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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
To the Shareholders of MDA Ltd.  

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MDA Ltd. (the Entity), which 
comprise: 

 
• the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 

2020 
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2021 

and period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020  
• the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year ended December 

31, 2021 and period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 

period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and 
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the periods then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.    

http://www.kpmg.ca/


 

 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated 
in our auditors’ report. 

Evaluation of total estimated costs to complete contracts for revenue recognition  

Description of the matter 

We draw attention to notes 2(d), 3(c), and 5 to the financial statements. The Entity recorded 
revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended December 31, 2021 of $476.9 million.  
The Entity recognizes revenues from fixed-price contracts and cost-plus contracts with ceilings 
using a percentage of completion method based on the ratio of contract costs incurred to date to 
total estimated costs.  

Estimating total costs requires judgments to be made around items including, but not limited to, 
labour productivity, complexity and scope of work to be performed, cost of materials, the length of 
time to complete the work, and execution by subcontractors.  

Why the matter is a key audit matter  

We identified the evaluation of total estimated costs to complete contracts for revenue recognition 
as a key audit matter. This matter represented an area of significant risk of material misstatement 
due to the magnitude of the balance and the high degree of subjectivity and estimation uncertainty 
in determining the total estimated costs to be incurred for each performance obligation. Significant 
auditor judgment was required in evaluating the results of our audit procedures. 

How the matter was addressed in the audit  

The primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter included the following: 

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain controls over the 
Entity’s review of total expected costs to complete contracts for revenue recognition. These 
controls included management review controls over the set-up and monitoring of costs to 
complete.  

We compared the Entity’s original and prior period estimate of total costs to be incurred to the 
actual costs incurred for completed contracts to assess the Entity’s ability to accurately estimate 
costs. 

For a selection of revenue contracts, we interviewed operational personnel of the Entity in charge 
of the project about the project status to evaluate progress to date and inspected source 
documentation such as contracts, change orders and correspondences to assess the total 
expected costs by performance obligation with respect to the contract.  

For a selection of revenue contracts, we evaluated the total expected costs to be incurred on the 
remaining performance obligations by comparing the costs incurred subsequent to year-end to the 
total expected costs.  

Evaluation of the impairment assessment of goodwill  

Description of the matter 

We draw attention to Notes 2(d), 3(j), 3(k), and 14 to the financial statements. The Entity has 
goodwill of $419.9 million which is allocated to its cash generating units.  Impairment testing of 



 

 

goodwill is performed at least annually, as at December 31, and is conducted at the level of the 
minimum grouping of cash generating units to which goodwill relates. 

When an impairment test is performed, the recoverable amount of each cash generating unit is 
assessed by reference to the higher of i) the value-in-use and ii) the fair value less costs of 
disposal.  The value in use of cash generating units at which goodwill and intangible assets are 
tested for impairment has been estimated using the forecasts prepared by the Entity for the next 
five years. In preparing the forecasts, the Entity uses significant assumptions about revenue 
growth, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, the discount rate and 
terminal growth rate. 

Why the matter is a key audit matter 

We identified the evaluation of the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit matter.  This 
matter represents a significant risk of material misstatement given the magnitude of the asset 
value and the high degree of estimation uncertainty in assessing the Entity’s significant 
assumptions. As a result, significant auditor judgment and the involvement of professionals with 
specialized skill and knowledge was required in evaluating the results of our audit procedures for 
each of the Entity’s cash generating units.  

How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter:  

For each of the Entity’s cash generating units,  

We compared the expected revenue growth and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization assumptions to the actual historical revenue growth and earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization of the cash generating units to assess the Entity’s ability to 
accurately predict these cash flow assumptions.   

We considered changes in conditions and events to assess the assumptions made in arriving at 
the expected future revenue estimates. 

We evaluated the terminal growth rate assumptions by comparing to published reports of industry 
analysts.   

We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in 
evaluating the discounted cash flow methodology adopted by the Entity to determine the value-in-
use amounts used in the determination of the recoverable amounts and evaluating the 
appropriateness of the discount rate assumptions by comparing to discount rate ranges that were 
independently developed using publicly available market data including available data for 
comparable entities. 

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 

• the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant 
Canadian Securities Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and 
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert 
for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated.   



 

 

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the 
relevant Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the 
work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  



 

 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards. 

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
 

• Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
auditors’ report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Tammy L. Brown. 

Vaughan, Canada  
March 16, 2022 
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MDA Ltd.  
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 and period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
(In millions of Canadian dollars except per share figures)  

  Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

      

Revenue  5 $ 476.9 $ 295.6 
      

Cost of revenue      

Materials, labour and subcontractors 7  (285.6)  (190.4) 

Depreciation and amortization of assets  11,12,13  (23.5)  (16.1) 

Gross profit    167.8  89.1 
      

Operating expenses      

Selling, general and administration 7  (58.3)  (50.1) 

Research and development, net 7  (21.1)  (6.0) 

Amortization of intangible assets 13  (56.3)  (42.2) 

Share-based compensation 18  (13.5)  (4.9) 

Operating income (loss)   18.6  (14.1) 

      

Other income (expenses)      

Government grant income 24  24.8  41.6 
Unrealized gain on financial instruments 19  0.8  7.0 
Foreign exchange loss   (1.5)  (1.5) 

Finance costs    (32.2)  (29.4) 

Other       0.8  (21.4) 

              Income (loss) before taxes  11.3  (17.8) 
      

Income tax recovery (expense) 22  (8.4)  0.5 
Net income (loss)   2.9  (17.3) 

      

Other comprehensive income (loss)     

Gain (loss) on translation of foreign operations  1.1  (2.0) 

Remeasurement gain (loss) on defined benefit plans 17  18.0  (8.6) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 22.0 $ (27.9) 

      
Earnings (loss) per share:      
Basic  23 $      0.03 $      (0.21) 

Diluted 23  0.02  (0.21) 
      
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:    
Basic 23 109,301,909 80,660,028 

Diluted 23 116,301,584 81,772,027 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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MDA Ltd. 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(In millions of Canadian dollars) 

As at Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
        

Assets        

Current assets:        

Cash   $ 83.6  $ 78.6  
Trade and other receivables 8   92.6   79.8 
Unbilled receivables 9   83.7   78.2 
Inventories    8.0   6.5 
Income taxes receivable 24(a)   13.1   24.1 
Other current assets 10   12.8   12.2 

    293.8   279.4 
Non-current assets:        

Property, plant and equipment 11   109.9    69.3  
Right-of-use assets 12   14.8   22.0 
Intangible assets 13   571.2   589.0 
Goodwill 14   419.9   419.9 
Deferred income tax assets 22   19.3   11.2 
Other non-current assets 10, 24(a)   105.7   64.6 

Total assets   $ 1,534.6  $ 1,455.4                          
        

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity        

Current liabilities:        

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 71.3  $ 65.7  
Income taxes payable    11.8   22.9 
Contract liabilities 5   91.5   73.3 
Provisions 16   3.4   17.8  
Current portion of net employee benefit payable 17   38.8   32.0 
Current portion of lease liabilities 12   7.9   7.8 
Current portion of long-term debt 15   —   22.0 
Other current liabilities    1.2   1.1 

    225.9   242.6 
Non-current liabilities:         

   Provisions 16   1.4   1.4 
Net employee defined benefit payable 17   33.8   43.6 
Lease liabilities 12   7.8   12.7 
Long-term debt 15   144.7   537.7 
Deferred income tax liabilities 22   158.4   158.7 
Other non-current liabilities    0.9   1.3 

Total liabilities    572.9   998.0                             
        

Shareholders’ equity        

Common shares 21   950.7    480.4 
Contributed surplus    16.9   4.9 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   8.5   (10.6) 
Deficit    (14.4)   (17.3) 

Total equity    961.7   457.4    
        

Total liabilities and equity   $ 1,534.6  $ 1,455.4  
        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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MDA Ltd. 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 and period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
(In millions of Canadian dollars)  

 Note 
Common shares Contributed 

surplus 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) Deficit 

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity Number1 Amount 
As at January 1, 2021  80,735,983 $ 480.4 $ 4.9 $ (10.6) $ (17.3) $ 457.4  
Share capital issued 21 37,955,645  470.3  —  —  —  470.3 
Net income  —  —  —  —  2.9  2.9 
Other comprehensive income  —  —  —  19.1  —  19.1 
Share-based compensation 18 —  —  13.5  —  —  13.5 
Other  —  —  (1.5)  —  —  (1.5) 
As at December 31, 2021  118,691,628 $ 950.7 $ 16.9 $ 8.5 $ (14.4) $ 961.7 

             
As at April 8, 2020  80,620,000 $ 479.7 $ — $ — $ — $ 479.7 
Share capital issued  115,983  0.7  —  —  —  0.7 
Net loss  —  —  —  —  (17.3)  (17.3) 
Other comprehensive loss  —  —  —  (10.6)  —  (10.6) 
Share-based compensation  —  —  4.9  —  —  4.9 
As at December 31, 2020  80,735,983 $ 480.4 $ 4.9 $ (10.6) $ (17.3) $ 457.4 

   
1 Number of common shares reflect the six-to-one share consolidation described in note 21. 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements 
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MDA Ltd. 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
For the year ended December 31, 2021 and period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
(In millions of Canadian dollars) 

  Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

Cash flows from operating activities       
 Income (loss) before taxes  $ 11.3 $ (17.8) 
Adjustments:      

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  11  8.5  5.3 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  12  10.3  6.9 
Amortization of intangible assets 13  61.0  46.1 
Share-based compensation expense 18  13.5  4.9 
Investment tax credits accrued during the period 24  (25.6)  (13.1) 
Finance costs    32.2  20.4 
Unrealized (gain) loss on financial instruments  (0.8)  (7.0) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities       

Trade and other receivables   (12.5)  7.9 
Unbilled receivables   (5.5)  19.8 
Inventories   (1.5)  (1.4) 
Other assets   (4.0)  (3.7) 
Trade and other payables   (1.6)  (25.8) 
Contract liabilities   18.2  24.8 
Employee benefits   8.0  7.5 
Provisions   (14.4)  — 
Other liabilities   (0.3)  7.7 

   96.8  82.5 
Interest paid   (24.1)  (23.2) 
Income tax paid   (0.6)  (2.9) 

Net cash from operating activities   72.1  56.4 
      

Cash flows from investing activities      
Purchases of property and equipment 11  (52.5)  (2.8) 
Purchases/development of intangible assets 13  (42.1)  (10.5) 
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 13  2.0  — 
Investment in equity securities   (6.2)  — 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired   —  (996.0) 

Net cash used in investing activities   (98.8)  (1,009.3) 
      

Cash flows from financing activities      
Repayments of long-term debt 15  (424.1)  (10.9) 
Payment of lease liability (principal portion) 12       (7.9)       (5.6) 
Proceeds from issuance of shares, net of costs 21  462.6  480.4 
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of issuance costs  —  569.6 
Net cash provided by financing activities   30.6  1,033.5 
      

Net increase in cash    3.9  80.6 
Net foreign exchange difference   1.1  (2.0) 
Cash, beginning of period   78.6  — 
Cash, end of period  $ 83.6 $ 78.6 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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1. Nature of operations 

MDA Ltd. and its subsidiaries (collectively “MDA” or the “Company”) design, manufacture, and service space 
robotics, satellite systems and components, and intelligence systems. MDA also provides geointelligence and 
earth observation solutions that incorporate data from the Company’s owned and operated satellite, 
RADARSAT-2, as well as third party satellite missions. MDA operates across three business areas: 
Geointelligence, Robotics & Space Operations, and Satellite Systems, with facilities and sites in Canada, the 
United Kingdom, and United States. The Company collaborates and partners with government agencies, prime 
contractors and emerging space companies. Notable MDA programs include the Canadarm family of space 
robotics for the U.S. Space Shuttle program and the International Space Station and three generations of 
RADARSAT Earth observation satellites for the Canadian Government.  

MDA Ltd. is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Canada, with its head office located at 
9445 Airport Road, Brampton, Ontario L6S4J3, Canada. MDA’s common shares are traded on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange under the symbol “MDA”. 

MDA Ltd. was incorporated pursuant to a series of legal entity restructuring. On April 8, 2020, Neptune 
Acquisition Inc. (“NAI”), an affiliate of Northern Private Capital Ltd. purchased 100% of the equity interest in 
MDA GP Holdings Ltd., MDA Systems Inc., and Maxar Technologies ULC from Maxar Technologies Inc. The 
consideration for this transaction was $1 billion. Immediately after closing, NAI amalgamated with Maxar 
Technologies ULC, and changed its name to Neptune Operations Ltd. (“NOL”). On June 2, 2020, Neptune 
Acquisition Holdings Inc. (“NAHI”) was formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario and became the parent 
of its wholly owned subsidiary NOL. In March 2021, NAHI changed its name to MDA Ltd.  

2. Basis of preparation  

(a) Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”).  

As the Company commenced operations on April 8, 2020, the consolidated financial statements (other than 
the consolidated statement of financial position) include comparative information for the period from April 
8, 2020 to December 31, 2020.  

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on March 16, 
2022. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for pension plan assets and liabilities and the following assets and liabilities which are measured at 
fair value: financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), derivative financial 
instruments, and initial recognition of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. 
Pension plan assets and liabilities are recognized as the present value of the defined benefit obligation net 
of the fair value of the plan assets. 

(c) Impact of COVID-19 pandemic 

COVID-19 was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020 and has 
created disruptions and uncertainties in the global economy. In 2021, the roll-out of vaccines helped 
alleviate some of the social distancing restrictions and measures implemented by various governments and 
health authorities, allowing the Company’s workforce to return to work under a hybrid model at various 
points throughout the year. The Company continues to prioritize the health and safety of employees, 
adhering to government officials’ guidelines in devising and implementing its hybrid workforce model. As 



MDA LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 and period April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
(Amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except share-based compensation awards and per share amounts) 
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part of its commitment to keeping everyone safe, the Company provided on-site rapid COVID-19 testing to 
its employees and implemented a vaccination mandate in December 2021 applicable to all employees and 
visitors entering the Company’s premises. 

While the Company experienced recoveries in revenues and productivity as customers advanced work and 
physical distancing and other health restrictions were eased intermittently, the pandemic continued to 
disrupt supply chains impacting the timing of contract awards and inflating costs of some of the Company’s 
programs in 2021.  

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $24.8 of government grant income (April 
8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 – $41.6) related to Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) from the 
Canadian government, of which $0.7 is receivable as at December 31, 2021. 

(d) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects 
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements included the following:  

• Revenue: The Company recognizes revenues from fixed-price contracts and cost-plus contracts with 
ceilings using a percentage of completion method based on the ratio of contract costs incurred to 
date to total estimated costs. On a monthly basis, the Company reviews the costs incurred to date 
and the estimated costs to complete for each project to determine whether the percentage of 
completion remains appropriate. Estimating total costs requires judgments to be made around items 
including, but not limited to, labour productivity, complexity and scope of work to be performed, cost 
of materials, the length of time to complete the work, and execution by subcontractors. This estimate 
directly affects revenue recognized in each reporting period as well as the balances of unbilled 
receivables and contract liabilities at the reporting date. Changes in estimates are recognized on a 
cumulative catch-up basis and could lead to reversals to revenues.  

• Impairment of non-financial assets: The value in use (“VIU”) of cash generating units at which 
goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment has been estimated using the forecasts 
prepared by management for the next five years. In preparing the forecasts, management uses 
significant assumptions about revenue growth, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization, the discount rate and terminal growth rate. These estimates are based on past 
experience and management’s expectations of future changes in the market and planned growth 
initiatives. Actual results could vary from these estimated future cash flows which may cause 
significant adjustments to the assets in subsequent reporting periods. Estimation uncertainty in 
calculating the VIU also include application of an appropriate discount rate. 

• Income taxes: The calculation of current and deferred income taxes requires management to make 
certain judgments in interpreting tax rules and regulations. The application of judgment is also 
required to evaluate whether the Company can recover a deferred tax asset based on management's 
assessment of existing tax laws, estimates of future profitability, and tax planning strategies. 

• Investment tax credits: Investment tax credits, whether or not recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements, may be carried forward to reduce future Canadian Federal and Provincial 
income taxes payable. The Company applies judgment when determining whether the reasonable 
assurance threshold has been met to recognize investment tax credits in the consolidated financial 
statements. The Company must interpret eligibility requirements in accordance with Canadian 
income tax laws and must assess whether future taxable income will be available against which the 
investment tax credits can be utilized. For investment tax credits that have not met the criteria to be 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 and period April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
(Amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except share-based compensation awards and per share amounts) 
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recognized in the consolidated financial statements, management continually reviews these 
interpretations and assessments and recognizes the investment tax credits relating to prior period 
expenses in the period when the reasonable assurance criteria have been met. Any changes in the 
interpretations and assessments could have an impact on the amount and timing of investment tax 
credits recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

• Share-based compensation: In determining the fair value on grant dates of the Company’s share-
based compensation arrangements, management uses judgment to determine the inputs to the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model including the expected plan life, underlying share price volatility 
over similar periods to the expected life of the awards under consideration. 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts of the Company and entities controlled by 
the Company. The Company controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has the right to, variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. All subsidiaries of the Company are wholly owned. The financial results of subsidiaries are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases. Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated upon consolidation. 

The table below lists the Company’s most significant subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2021 
and period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 based on revenues. The Company held 100% of the 
interest in all the subsidiaries listed below. 

Entity Country of incorporation 
MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Inc. Canada 
MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Corporation Canada 
MDA Geospatial Services Inc. Canada 
MDA Systems Ltd. Canada 
MDA Space and Robotics Limited United Kingdom 
MDA Systems Inc. US 

(b) Translation of foreign operations and foreign currency transactions 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s 
functional currency. 

(i) Transactions and balances 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the prevailing exchange 
rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities, and revenue and expense items 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate 
prevailing at the dates of the respective transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions are recognized in net income.  

(ii) Foreign operations translation 

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries that have a functional currency other than Canadian dollars are 
translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the reporting date. Revenue and expenses 
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are translated at the average exchange rates. The resulting translation adjustments are included in other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”).  

(c) Revenue recognition  

The Company enters into contracts with customers to provide development of customized systems, 
construction of robotics and satellite components, satellite imagery data and related analyses, and 
maintenance and support services. 

The Company accounts for a contract when enforceable rights and obligations between the Company and 
its customer are present, the contract has commercial substance, the rights of the parties and payment 
terms are identified, collectability of consideration is probable, and both parties have approved the contract. 
Two or more contracts with the same customer entered into at or near the same time are combined for 
revenue recognition accounting when the contracts are negotiated as a package with a single commercial 
objective or when the goods or services in the contracts are a single performance obligation. 

A performance obligation is a promise in the contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer. 
Most of the Company’s contracts have a single performance obligation, as the promise to transfer the 
individual goods or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts and therefore, 
are not distinct. An amendment made to an existing contract is accounted for in combination with the 
existing contract unless it adds goods or services distinct from the goods or services promised in the 
existing contract.  

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in the contract. The Company recognizes 
revenue as it fulfills its performance obligations by transferring control of the promised goods or services 
to the customer.  

The Company’s revenues are derived mainly from the following types of contracts: 

• Revenues from fixed-price contracts and cost-plus contracts with ceilings are generally recognized 
over time using a percentage of completion method based on the ratio of contract costs incurred to 
date to total estimated costs. These contracts generally consist of a single performance obligation 
due to the integrated nature of the goods or services. The consideration in these contracts include 
the stated contractual price and the expected variable amounts related to incentive payments and 
liquidated damages using a probability-weighted average calculation. Variable amounts are included 
in the consideration to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount 
of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable 
amounts is subsequently resolved. The Company typically bills milestone payments to its customers 
under these types of contracts.  

• Revenues from time and materials contracts are recognized overtime as the Company incurs the 
labour hours and material costs at the contractual billing rates for each unit of labour and material 
incurred. 

• Revenue from unit of delivery contracts are recognized at the point in time the Company delivers the 
product to the customer. 

• Revenue from contracts whereby the Company stands ready to provide services are recognized on 
a straight-line basis over the enforceable term of the contract, as the Company’s provides the access 
evenly over the period. 

Contract costs include direct costs such as materials, labor, and subcontract costs as well as indirect costs 
such as overhead costs that relate directly to satisfying the performance obligations under the contract. 
Costs are expensed as incurred. 
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(d) Unbilled receivables and contract liabilities 

Unbilled receivables represent the Company’s right to consideration for goods or services transferred to 
the customer but not billed at the reporting date. Unbilled receivables are transferred to trade receivables 
when the rights to the amounts become unconditional. This usually occurs when the Company issues an 
invoice to the customer. Unbilled receivables are adjusted for expected credit losses. 

Contract liabilities relate to advance consideration received from customers in excess of revenue 
recognized under the contract.  

(e) Cash 

Cash consist of cash on hand and deposits held with banks. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes any amounts incurred in constructing and testing the asset as well as any 
other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  

Depreciation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related 
asset to its residual value. Expected useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed annually. 

The estimated useful lives of the Company’s various classes of property, plant and equipment are as 
follows: 

 Estimated useful life 
Buildings 50 years 
Building improvements 10 to 12 years 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life or lease term 
Equipment 2 to 12 years 
Furniture and fixtures 2 to 10 years 
Computer hardware 3 to 5 years 

(g) Leases 

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except for leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases with a term of 12 months or less. The Company recognizes the lease 
payments associated with low-value and short-term leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

(i) Right-of-use assets 

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease and initially measured 
at cost, which is comprised of the amount of the initial lease liability recognized less any incentives received 
from the lessor. The initial cost also includes any initial direct costs incurred, lease payments made before 
the commencement date, and estimated restoration costs. The right-of-use asset is subsequently 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the 
asset. The right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability. 
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(ii) Lease liabilities  

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term, discounted using the Company’s incremental 
discount rate. The lease term includes all contractual non-cancellable periods of the lease plus periods 
covered by an option to renew if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option. The lease term 
includes the periods covered up to an option to terminate the lease if the Company is reasonably certain 
to exercise that option. 

Lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid 
under residual value guarantees. If applicable, the lease payments also include the exercise price of a 
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable 
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses in the period in which 
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.  

The Company also has certain leases which include payments that do not relate to the transfer of goods 
or services by the lessor to the Company (e.g. cleaning the common areas of a building, fees or other 
administrative costs) and are considered non-lease components. These amounts are not included in lease 
payments. 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the Company measures lease liabilities at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Lease liabilities are remeasured when there is a change in the lease term, change 
in the future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate, or a change in the assessment of 
an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

(h) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost on initial recognition. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.  

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly attributable costs necessary to 
create, produce, and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  

Amortization is calculated over the estimated useful lives of the assets on a straight-line basis as follows: 

Intangible asset Estimated useful life 
Proprietary technologies 5 to 20 years 
Customer relationships 13 to 18 years 
Contractual backlog 2 to 4 years 
Software 3 to 10 years 
MDA trademark 20 years 

Amortization methods and useful lives are reviewed annually. 

(i) Research and development 

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs are also expensed as incurred unless they 
meet all of the capitalization criteria established in IAS 38, Intangible Assets. Amortization of capitalized 
development costs commences when the asset is available for use. 

(j) Goodwill 

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
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Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date. 

(k) Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses for any indication of impairment of its property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, right-of-use assets and goodwill. If any indication exists, the Company tests 
the assets for impairment. Impairment testing of goodwill is performed at least annually, as at December 
31, regardless of any indications of impairment. 

Impairment testing is conducted at the level of the asset, a cash generating unit (“CGU”) or group of CGUs. 
A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Impairment testing of goodwill is conducted at 
the level of the minimum grouping of CGUs to which goodwill relates. 

The Company tests for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of an asset, CGU or group of CGUs 
to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of each CGU is assessed by reference to the higher of 
i) the VIU and ii) the fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”). If the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss in the amount of the excess is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss). Impairment losses are first allocated to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill related to the CGU or group of CGUs, the remaining amount of an impairment loss 
is allocated pro rata to other assets in the CGU or group of CGUs, without reducing the carrying amount of 
the assets below the highest of their FVLCD, their VIU, and zero.  

Except for goodwill, any reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss). A reversal of an impairment loss for a CGU or group of CGUs 
is allocated pro rata to the assets of the CGU or group of CGUs. The recoverable amount of an asset 
increased by reversal of an impairment loss may not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation and amortization to date, if no impairment loss had been recognized for 
the asset in prior years. 

(l) Business combinations  

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Under this method, the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at their respective acquisition-date fair values. The results of operations after the date of acquisition are 
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred. 

(m) Provisions 

Provisions are recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation.  

(i) Restructuring costs  

A provision for restructuring costs is recognized when the Company has approved a detailed and formal 
restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future 
operating losses are excluded from the provision. 

(ii) Onerous contracts 

Provisions for estimated contract losses are recognized as an onerous contract provision in the period in 
which the loss is determined. Contract losses are measured at the amount by which the estimated costs of 
fulfilling the contract exceed the estimated total revenue from the contract. Estimated costs of fulfilling the 
contract, for the purposes of measuring onerous contract provisions, include direct labour, materials, and 
subcontractor costs. 
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(n) Employee benefits  

(i) Defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans  

The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by 
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, 
discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.  

The defined benefit obligations are actuarially determined for each plan using the projected unit credit 
method, which takes into account the expected salary increases as the basis for future benefit increases 
for the pension plans. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds 
that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations and that are denominated 
in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. Actuarial assumptions for discount 
rates, expected salary increases and the projected age of employees upon retirement reflect historical 
experience and the Company’s assessment of future expectations.  

When the calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the employee benefit asset recognized is limited 
to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or 
reductions in future contributions to the plan. Minimum funding requirements may give rise to an additional 
liability to the extent that they require the Company to pay contributions to cover an existing shortfall in that 
particular plan. An economic benefit is available to the Company if it is realizable during the life of the plan, 
or on settlement of the plan liabilities. The fair value of plan assets is based on market price information. 

The Company determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for 
the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of 
the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net 
defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net 
interest expense is recognized as a component of finance costs. The Company recognizes service cost 
and administrative expenses relating to defined benefit plans as a component of direct costs and selling, 
general and administration expense. Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments, changes in 
actuarial assumptions, return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) and 
effect of any asset ceilings (excluding interest) are recognized in other comprehensive income in the period 
in which they arise.  

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in the net benefit 
liability that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss).  

(ii) Defined contribution pension plans 

The Company maintains defined contribution plans for some of its employees whereby the Company pays 
contributions based on a percentage of the employees’ annual salary. Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss) as the services are provided. 

(iii) Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed when the Company has demonstrably committed, without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal 
retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are expensed if the Company has made an 
offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances 
can be estimated reliably. 
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(o) Income taxes 

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. An income tax expense is recognized in 
income except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in OCI or equity, in which case it is recognized 
in OCI or equity, respectively.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable to or receivable from tax authorities on the taxable income or loss 
reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss). In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary 
differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reserves are made to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

The Company recognizes uncertain tax positions when the Company believes that it is probable that the 
tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the 
position. The Company makes adjustments to these recognized uncertain tax positions when facts and 
circumstances change, such as the closing of a tax audit or the refinement of an estimate. The provision 
for income taxes includes the effects of adjustments for uncertain tax positions, as well as any related 
interest and penalties. 

(p) Government assistance 

The Company’s government assistance includes funding from government bodies to support the 
Company’s research and development (“R&D”) activities and to acquire or develop assets, investment tax 
credits (“ITCs”), and the emergency wage subsidy. Government grants are recognized when there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached conditions will be complied with.  

Other than CEWS, government grants are recognized net of the related costs they are intended to 
compensate on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs are expensed. Government grants 
related to CEWS are recognized in Government grant income. Government grants related to the acquisition 
of assets are recognized as a reduction of the cost of the related asset.  

If government assistance becomes repayable, the inception to date impact of assistance previously 
recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) is reversed immediately in the period 
that the assistance becomes repayable. 

ITCs expected to be recovered beyond 12 months are classified in other non-current assets. ITCs are 
deemed to be equivalent to government assistance. This government assistance is claimed for eligible 
costs incurred in R&D projects. 
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(q) Share-based compensation 

The Company grants stock-based awards to certain directors, officers and employees of the Company, 
providing such individuals the option to purchase common shares at predetermined prices. The Company’s 
stock option awards vest gradually over the vesting term and each tranche is considered as a separate 
award.  

All of the Company’s stock-based awards are equity-settled and are measured based on the grant date fair 
value without subsequent remeasurement. The fair value of each tranche of options granted is estimated 
on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The grant date fair value, net of estimated 
forfeitures, is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with a 
corresponding increase to contributed surplus. Forfeitures are estimated at the grant date and are revised 
to reflect changes in expected or actual forfeitures. Incremental fair value as a result of a modification that 
is beneficial to the employee is recognized over the remaining vesting period. Upon settlement of stock-
based awards, the amount recognized in contributed surplus for the award plus any cash received upon 
settlement is recognized as an increase in share capital. 

(r) Share capital 

Common shares are classified as equity. Issuance costs directly attributable to the issuance of the shares 
are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of income tax effects. 

(s) Financial instruments 

(i) Initial recognition, classification, and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. All financial instruments are initially measured at fair 
value. Financial instruments are subsequently measured based on their classification as follows: 

• Financial instruments measured at amortized cost; 

• Financial instruments measured at FVTPL; 

• Financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). 

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the 
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are 
recognized immediately in acquisition, transaction and integration costs on the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income (loss). 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire. A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled, or expires. Where 
a legally enforceable right to offset exists for recognized financial assets and financial liabilities and there 
is an intention to settle the liability and realize the asset simultaneously, or to settle on a net basis, such 
related financial assets and financial liabilities are offset. 

On initial recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured at amortized cost when both of 
the following conditions are met: 

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 
and 

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) 
method and are subject to impairment.  
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Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are managed with the objective of realising cash 
flows through the sale. Derivatives, including separate embedded derivatives, are also classified as held 
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at FVTPL are 
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). 

Financial assets at FVOCI are equity investments the Company has irrevocably elected to classify at 
FVOCI. As at December 31, 2021, the Company does not carry any financial assets at FVOCI. 

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at FVTPL or amortized cost as appropriate. The 
Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, financial liabilities at amortized cost are measured using the effective interest method with the 
accretion of interest recognized in finance costs. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are carried in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net changes net changes in fair value 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). 

The Company classifies its financial assets and liabilities depending on the purpose for which the financial 
instruments were acquired, their characteristics and management intent as outlined below: 

Financial asset or liability IFRS 9 classification and measurement 
Cash Amortized cost 
Trade and other receivables Amortized cost 
Investments in equity securities FVTPL 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost 
Long-term debt Amortized cost 
Derivative assets and liabilities FVTPL 

(ii) Impairment of financial assets 

The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses ("ECLs") on financial assets measured 
at amortized cost. The Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the 
Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date. The carrying amount of these assets in the consolidated statement of financial 
position is stated net of any loss allowance. 

A loss allowance is estimated from a review of the current and expected economic conditions and 
counterparty specific facts. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. 

(iii) Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when the Company has an unconditional and legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognized amounts and intends to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. 

(iv) Fair value 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value using a valuation hierarchy for disclosure 
of fair value measurements. The determination of the applicable level within the hierarchy of a particular 
asset or liability depends on the inputs used in the valuation as of the measurement date, notably the extent 
to which the inputs are market-based (observable) or internally derived (unobservable). Observable inputs 
are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained 
from independent sources. Unobservable inputs are inputs reflect the assumptions that market participants 
would use, and are based on the best information available in the circumstances.  
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The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the reliability of inputs as follows: 

• Level 1: Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that a 
company has the ability to access at the measurement date. 

• Level 2: Valuations based on quoted inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through corroboration with 
observable market data. 

• Level 3: Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value 
measurement.  

(t) Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net earnings (loss) for the period 
attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period.  

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the net earnings (loss) attributable to equity holders by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number of 
common shares that would be issued upon exercise of share-based compensation arrangements, to the 
extent they are considered dilutive.  

4. New accounting pronouncements not yet adopted: 

(a) Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendment to IAS 37) 

In May 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets, (“IAS 37”) to specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a contract is 
onerous or loss-making. The amendment clarifies that the costs relating directly to a contract to provide 
goods or services include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract 
activities. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 

The Company has substantially completed its assessment in applying the amendment to contracts for which 
it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at January 1, 2022. The Company has determined the impact of this 
amendment to be immaterial as at January 1, 2022. 

(b) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 

The amendments to IAS 1, which are intended to clarify requirements for the classification of liabilities as 
non-current, become effective for the Company on January 1, 2023. Earlier application is permitted. The 
Company is assessing the potential impact of these amendments. 

5. Revenue from contracts with customers  

(a) Disaggregation of revenue 

All of the Company’s revenue represents revenue from contracts with customers. Disaggregation of revenue 
by service lines are presented in the table below: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Geointelligence $ 190.7 $ 134.7 
Robotics and Space Operations  132.9  85.3 
Satellite Systems  153.3  75.6 
 $ 476.9 $ 295.6 
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(b) Revenue concentration 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, there were 2 customers that individually comprised more than 10% of 
revenue and 26.3% in total. For the period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020, there were 2 customers 
that individually comprised more than 10% of revenue and 32.2% in total. 

(c) Remaining performance obligations 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company had remaining performance obligations of $864.3, which represents 
the transaction price of firm orders less inception to date revenue recognized. Remaining performance 
obligations exclude unexercised contract options and indefinite delivery or indefinite quantity contracts. The 
Company expects to recognize approximately 41% of its remaining performance obligations as revenue in 2022, 
22% in 2023, and the balance thereafter. 

(d) Contract liabilities 

Set out below are the movements in contract liabilities during each period: 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Opening contract liabilities $ 73.3 $ 48.5 
Add: Amounts invoiced for unsatisfied performance 

obligations  78.2  46.2 

Minus: Revenue recognized in period that was 
included in the opening balance  (60.0)  (21.4) 

Ending contract liabilities $ 91.5 $ 73.3 

6. Geographic information 

Segmented information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker (“CODM”), and reflects the way the CODM evaluates performance of, and allocates 
resources within, the business. The Company operates substantially all of its activities in one reportable 
segment, which includes the Geointelligence, Robotics & Space Operations and Satellite Systems operating 
segments. The reportable segment earns revenue by providing space solutions to customers in a similar market 
and is managed by the CODM.  

Revenues are attributed to geographical regions based on the location of customers as follows: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Canada $ 232.7 $ 86.4 
United States  129.7  123.6 
Europe  88.9  71.0 
Asia and Middle East   22.7  10.3 
Other  2.9  4.3 
 $ 476.9 $ 295.6 

 

The Company’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and goodwill are attributed 
to geographical regions based on the location of the assets as follows: 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Canada $ 1,115.0 $ 1,093.1 
Other  0.8  7.1 
 $ 1,115.8 $ 1,100.2 
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7. Cost of revenue and operating expenses 

The following table shows the breakdown of materials, labour and subcontractors costs included in cost of 
revenue: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Wages, salaries and other cost of revenues $ 251.8 $ 172.6 
Subcontractor costs     45.0  20.7 
Investment tax credits recognized  (25.6)  (13.1) 
Costs related to defined contribution plans  5.6  4.7 
Costs related to defined benefit plans  7.0  4.5 
Inventories used  1.8  1.0 
 $ 285.6 $ 190.4 

 

The following tables show the breakdowns of selling, general and administration expenses and research and 
development, net included in operating expenses: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 

 December 31, 
2021 

December 31, 2020 

Selling, general and administration     
General and administration $ 32.4 $ 31.1 
Selling and marketing   25.9  19.0 
 $ 58.3 $ 50.1 
Research and development, net     
Research and development expense $ 25.7 $ 19.0 
Research and development expense recovery  (4.6)  (13.0) 
 $ 21.1 $ 6.0 

8.  Trade and other receivables 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Trade receivables, gross $ 82.4 $ 48.7 
Other receivables, gross  10.7  31.4 
Credit loss allowance  (0.5)  (0.3) 
 $ 92.6 $ 79.8 

 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 15 to 60 days.  

9. Unbilled receivables 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Unbilled receivables, gross $ 85.4 $ 78.2 
Credit loss allowance  (1.7)  — 
 $ 83.7 $ 78.2 
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10. Other assets 

 Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Prepaid expenses  $ 13.2 $ 9.9 
Advances to suppliers   1.8  1.5 
Investment tax credits receivable 24(a)  67.8  48.5 
Deferred financing fees on long-term debt   6.0  — 
Investment in equity securities   7.7  — 
Derivative financial assets   9.5  9.9 
Pension plan asset   12.5  — 
Other   —  7.0 
  $ 118.5 $ 76.8 
Current portion  $ 12.8 $ 12.2 
Non-current portion  $ 105.7 $ 64.6 

11. Property, plant and equipment  

  

Land, 
buildings and 

leasehold 
improvements Equipment 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

computer 
hardware 

Capital in 
progress Total 

Cost               
As at January 1, 2021 $ 57.4 $ 9.1 $ 5.3 $ 2.8 $ 74.6 

Additions  0.8  2.2  3.9  39.9  46.8 
Disposals  (0.2)  —  —  —  (0.2) 
Transfers  0.1  2.1  0.2  (0.1)  2.3 

As at December 31, 2021 $ 58.1 $ 13.4 $ 9.4 $ 42.6 $ 123.5 
Accumulated depreciation               
As at January 1, 2021 $ (1.9) $ (2.2) $ (1.2) $ — $ (5.3) 

Depreciation expense  (3.1)  (3.2)  (2.2)  —  (8.5) 
Disposals  0.2  —  —  —  0.2 

As at December 31, 2021 $ (4.8) $ (5.4) $ (3.4) $ — $ (13.6) 
Net book value               
As at December 31, 2021 $ 53.3 $ 8.0 $ 6.0 $ 42.6 $ 109.9 

 



MDA LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 and period April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
(Amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except share-based compensation awards and per share amounts) 
 

 

Page 21 of 43 
 

  

Land, 
buildings and 

leasehold 
improvements Equipment 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

computer 
hardware 

Capital in 
progress Total 

Cost               
As at April 8, 2020 $ 56.1 $ 7.8 $ 2.9 $ 5.0 $ 71.8 

Additions  2.4  1.0  0.5  0.1  4.0 
Transfers  (1.1)  0.3  1.9  (2.3)  (1.2) 

As at December 31, 2020 $ 57.4 $ 9.1 $ 5.3 $ 2.8 $ 74.6 
Accumulated depreciation               
As at April 8, 2020 $ — $ —  $ — $ — $ — 

Depreciation expense  (1.9)  (2.2)  (1.2)  —  (5.3) 
As at December 31, 2020 $ (1.9) $ (2.2) $ (1.2) $ — $ (5.3) 
Net book value               
As at December 31, 2020 $ 55.5 $ 6.9 $ 4.1 $ 2.8 $ 69.3 

 

Depreciation expense included in cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 is $8.5 (April 8, 2020 
to December 31, 2020 – $5.3). 

12. Leases  

The Company has lease contracts for buildings, equipment, furniture and fixtures and computer hardware used 
in its operations. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 5 and 10 years, while equipment, 
furniture and fixtures and computer hardware generally have lease terms between 1 and 5 years. Set out below 
are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized and the movements during the period: 

  

Buildings Equipment 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

computer 
hardware Total 

As at January 1, 2021 $ 19.2 $ 0.1 $ 2.7 $ 22.0 
Additions  3.0  —  0.1  3.1 
Depreciation expense   (8.7)  (0.1)  (1.5)  (10.3) 
As at December 31, 2021 $ 13.5 $ — $ 1.3 $ 14.8 

         
 

  

Buildings Equipment 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

computer 
hardware Total 

As at April 8, 2020 $ 19.4 $ — $ 2.6 $ 22.0 
Additions  5.4  0.1  1.4  6.9 
Depreciation expense   (5.6)  —  (1.3)  (6.9) 
As at December 31, 2020 $ 19.2 $ 0.1 $ 2.7 $ 22.0 

         
The Company also has certain leases of small office and IT equipment such as laptops with lease terms of 12 
months or less, some of which are also low value leases.  
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The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss for the leases: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Depreciation expense included in cost of revenue $ 10.3 $ 6.9 
Interest expense on lease liability   1.0  0.6 
Expense relating to short-term lease    2.0   2.1 
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets   0.4  0.8 
 $ 13.7 $ 10.4 

 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Opening $ 20.5 $ 19.9 
Additions  3.1  6.2 
Accretion of interest  1.0  0.6 
Payments  (8.9)  (6.2) 
Ending $ 15.7 $ 20.5 

 

The Company had total cash outflows for leases of $11.3 in the current period (April 8, 2020 – December 31, 
2020: $9.1).  

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 19, financial instruments and fair value disclosures. 

13. Intangible assets 

  
Proprietary 

technologies 
Contractual 

backlog 
Customer 

relationships 
MDA 

trademark Software Total  
Cost             

As at January 1, 2021 $ 73.0  $ 41.2 $ 463.1 $ 25.6 $ 32.2 $ 635.1 
Additions   34.8  —  —  —  12.7  47.5 
Disposals  (0.2)  —  (3.2)  —  —  (3.4) 
Transfers  4.0  —  —  —  (6.3)  (2.3) 

As at December 31, 2021 $ 111.6 $ 41.2 $ 459.9 $ 25.6 $ 38.6 $ 676.9 

Accumulated amortization             
As at January 1, 2021 $ (6.0)  $ (10.8) $ (24.5)  $ (1.1)  $ (3.7)  $ (46.1) 
Amortization expense  (7.7)  (14.1)  (33.2)  (1.3)  (4.7)  (61.0) 
Disposals  0.1  —  1.3  —  —  1.4 
As at December 31, 2021 $ (13.6) $ (24.9) $ (56.4) $ (2.4) $ (8.4) $ (105.7) 

Net book value                  
As at December 31, 2021 $ 98.0 $ 16.3 $ 403.5 $ 23.2 $ 30.2 $ 571.2 
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Proprietary 

technologies 
Contractual 

backlog 
Customer 

relationships 
MDA 

trademark Software Total  
Cost             

As at April 8, 2020 $ 73.0  $ 41.2 $ 463.1 $ 25.6 $ 21.7 $ 624.6 
Additions   —  —  —  —  10.5  10.5 
As at December 31, 2020 $ 73.0 $ 41.2 $ 463.1 $ 25.6 $ 32.2 $ 635.1 
Accumulated amortization             
As at April 8, 2020 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Amortization expense  (6.0)  (10.8)  (24.5)  (1.1)  (3.7)  (46.1) 

As at December 31, 2020 $ (6.0) $ (10.8) $ (24.5) $ (1.1) $ (3.7) $ (46.1) 

Net book value                  
As at December 31, 2020 $ 67.0 $ 30.4 $ 438.6 $ 24.5 $ 28.5 $ 589.0 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, additions of proprietary technologies and software included $34.8 and 
$10.1 of development costs incurred on internally generated intangible assets, respectively. As at December 
31, 2021, the assets are still under development, and therefore the amortization thereof has not commenced. 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the amortization expense related to software of $4.7 (April 8, 2020 to 
December 31, 2020 – $3.7) are included in cost of revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the 
amortization expense related to all other intangible assets of $56.3 (April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 – 
$42.4) are included in operating expenses.  

As at December 31, 2021, the Company did not identify any indicators of impairment. Accordingly, no 
impairment was recognized during this period. 

14. Goodwill 

The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test as at December 31, 2021. Goodwill is monitored 
at the groups of CGUs level, which represents the lowest level within the Company for which information about 
goodwill is available and monitored for internal management purposes:  

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Geointelligence $ 285.9 $ 285.9 
Robotics and Space Operations  25.1  25.1 
Satellite Systems  108.9  108.9 
 $ 419.9 $ 419.9 

 

For each CGU, the recoverable amount was determined based on its value in use, calculated by discounting 
estimated future cash flows to their present value. Estimated cash flow projections are based on the Company’s 
five-year strategic plan. Based on the impairment test performed, the recoverable amount of Geointelligence, 
Robotics and Space Operations and Satellite Systems were in excess of their carrying amounts. Accordingly, 
there is no impairment of the carrying value of goodwill.   

The following key assumptions were used for the period in determining the recoverable amount for each CGU: 

• Revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization over the forecast horizon 
are based on the expected timing of the Company’s performance under enforceable contracts and 
anticipated future contracts, expected costs, as well as forecasted growth rate of the Company’s 
recurring services and goods provided to its customers. 
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• Pre-tax discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU 
taking into consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets that 
have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The pre-tax discount rates used reflect each 
CGU’s specific risks and market conditions and ranged from 10.0% to 10.5%.  

• Terminal growth rate represents the cash flows beyond the five years included in the cash flow forecast. 
Rates are based on market and industry trends researched and identified by management. A terminal 
growth rate of 2.5% was used in the value in use calculation.  

15. Long-term debt 

The Company’s long-term debt is comprised of the following: 

   December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 Maturity date 
Term loan, interest rate of CDOR plus 3.5%, 
principal and interest payable quarterly $ — $ 411.9 April 8, 2025 

Second lien notes, semi-annual interest 
commencing October 8, 2020, 10% paid in 
cash or 12% paid in-kind (6% cash, 6% in-
kind) 

 144.7  147.8 April 8, 2027 

  $ 144.7 $ 559.7  

Current  $ — $ 22.0  
Non-current $ 144.7 $ 537.7  

(a) Term loan facility and revolving credit facility 

The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary NOL, had a term loan facility totaling $435.0 of which the 
full amount was drawn at inception. In the second quarter, the Company used a portion of the net proceeds 
from the initial public offering and over-allotment option of common shares to repay in full the $418.7 of 
outstanding principal under the term loan facility. 

Concurrent with the repayment in the second quarter, the Company converted the term loan to a reducing 
revolving credit facility, which was combined with the Company’s existing revolving credit facility. Under the 
reducing revolving credit facility, the Company has available credit in the amount of $433.7, of which $15.6 was 
used as of December 31, 2021, (December 31, 2020 – $15.5), all in respect of the Company’s gross potential 
liability related to letters of credit. The outstanding letters of credit at December 31, 2021 had an applicable 
margin of 97 basis points (“bps”) plus a fronting fee of 25 bps. 

The available credit under the revolving credit facility will reduce on a quarterly basis at a rate of $5.4 from 
March 31, 2022 to June 30, 2022, $8.2 from September 30, 2022 to June 30, 2024 and $10.9 from September 
30, 2024 to March 31, 2025. The revolving credit facility matures on April 8, 2025. This facility bears interest at 
either the bank’s prime rate or alternate base rate Canada plus an applicable margin of 45 to 175 bps or CDOR 
or LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 145 to 275 bps, based on the Company’s total debt to EBITDA ratio. 

Prior to the repayment and conversion that occurred in the second quarter, the term loan facility bore interest 
at either the bank’s prime rate or alternate base rate Canada plus an applicable margin of 150 to 300 bps or 
CDOR or LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 250 to 400 bps, based on the Company’s total debt to EBITDA 
ratio.  

The Company accounted for the conversion from the term loan to the reducing revolving credit facility as a non-
substantial debt modification. The Company recognized a loss on modification of $5.4 in finance costs in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). 
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(b) Second lien notes  

The Company has second lien notes outstanding which bear interest at 10% per annum in cash, or 12% paid 
in-kind (“PIK”) (6% cash, 6% in-kind) if the election is made by the Company. Interest is due semi-annually. If 
the PIK interest election is made by the Company, interest on the second lien notes for each interest period is 
payable by increasing the principal amount of the outstanding notes by the amount of interest then due and 
owing for such interest period. As at December 31, 2021, the PIK election was not made. 

(c) Security and guarantees 

The reducing revolving credit facility is guaranteed by all subsidiaries of NOL (other than certain excluded 
subsidiaries, including immaterial subsidiaries and non-wholly owned subsidiaries) and secured by all of the 
present and future assets, property and undertakings of NOL and its subsidiary guarantors, as well as a limited 
recourse guarantee and pledge of NOL from the Company. 

The second lien notes are guaranteed by the same guarantors as the revolving credit facility and the term loan 
facility and secured by a second lien on the same collateral. 

(d) Covenants 

Under the reducing revolving credit facility, the Company must satisfy certain financial covenants as defined 
by the credit agreement, including the following: 
• The Company is required to maintain an interest coverage ratio of at least 3.0 to 1 at all times 
• The Company is required to maintain a specified total debt to EBITDA ratio of less than or equal to 4.0 to 

1 at all times 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with these covenants. 

(e) Cash flows arising from long-term borrowings 

The following table reconciles the changes in cash flows from financing activities for long-term borrowings: 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Opening $ 559.7 $ — 
Issuance of debt, net of issuance costs  —  585.0 
Capitalized transaction costs  —  (20.4) 
Principal repayments  (424.1)  (10.9) 
Modification loss  5.4  — 
Interest expense  23.2  23.8 
Interest paid  (21.7)  (21.6) 
Deferred financing fees reclassified to other assets  6.0  — 
Other  (3.8)  3.8 
Closing $ 144.7 $ 559.7 

Current portion $ — $ 22.0 
Non-current portion $ 144.7 $ 537.7 

(f) Commitments related to long-term debt 

The outstanding long-term debt principal as at December 31, 2021 relates entirely to the second lien notes. 
The principal is due in full upon its maturity date in 2027.  
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16. Provisions 

  
Restructuring 

costs 
Onerous 

Contracts 
Decommissioning 

Liabilities Other Total 
As at January 1, 2021 $ 6.2 $ 6.3 $ 1.4 $ 5.3 $ 19.2 
Provision made  —  0.5  —  —  0.5 
Provision used   (4.7)  (4.1)  —  (5.3)  (14.1) 
Provision reversed  (0.8)  —  —  —  (0.8) 
As at December 31, 2021 $ 0.7 $ 2.7 $ 1.4 $ — $ 4.8 

Current portion $ 0.7 $ 2.7 $ — $ — $ 3.4 
Non-current portion $ — $ — $ 1.4 $ — $ 1.4 

 

  
Restructuring 

costs 
Onerous 

Contracts 
Decommissioning 

Liabilities Other Total 
As at April 8, 2020 $ 1.9 $ 3.6 $ 1.4 $ — $ 6.9 
Provision made  9.0  4.5  —  5.3  18.8 
Provision used   (4.7)  (1.8)  —  —  (6.5) 
As at December 31, 2020 $ 6.2  6.3  1.4  5.3  19.2 

Current portion $ 6.2 $ 6.3 $ — $ 5.3 $ 17.8 
Non-current portion $ — $ — $ 1.4 $ — $ 1.4 

17. Employee benefits  

(a) Employee benefits liabilities 

 Employee benefit liabilities December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Salary and benefits payable $ 33.3 $ 27.1 
Pension plan liabilities  34.8  46.8 
Other post-retirement benefits  4.5  1.7 
 $ 72.6 $ 75.6 

Current  $ 38.8 $ 32.0 
Non-current  $ 33.8 $ 43.6 

Excluded from the pension plan liabilities as at December 31, 2021 are pension plan assets totalling $12.5. 
Pension plan assets are recorded in other non-current asset as presented in note 10. 

(b) Contribution costs 

The Company maintains defined benefit pension plans, defined contribution pension plans and other post-
retirement benefit plans. The Company’s contributions are set out below: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Defined contribution pension plans $ 6.5 $ 4.7 
Defined benefit pension plans  5.6  5.2 
Other post-retirement benefit plans  0.5  0.5 
 $ 12.6 $ 10.4 
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(c) Defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans 

Defined benefit pension plans 

The Company’s defined benefit plans provide pension benefits based on various factors including earnings and 
length of service. 

The plans are funded and the Company’s funding requirements are based on each of the plans’ actuarial 
measurement frameworks as established by the plan agreements or applicable laws. Employees are required 
to contribute to some of the funded plans. The total estimated employer contributions expected to be paid to 
the plans in the year ending December 31, 2022 are $5.6. 

The funded plan assets are legally separated from the Company and are held by an independent trustee. The 
trustee is responsible for ensuring that the funds are protected as per applicable laws. 

Movement in net defined benefit liability for the year ended December 31, 2021 is set out below: 

  Defined benefit 
obligation 

Fair value of 
plan assets 

Net defined 
benefit liability 

(asset) 
Defined benefit obligation as at January 1, 2021 $ 135.2 $  (123.6) $ 11.6 
       

Recognized in net income       
Current service cost  5.6  —  5.6 
Past service costs  0.1  —  0.1 
Interest cost (income)  3.5  (2.6)  0.9 

 $ 9.2 $  (2.6) $ 6.6 
Recognized in net equity          

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from:       
Financial assumptions  (10.9)  —  (10.9) 
Experience adjustment   0.7  —  0.7 
Return on plan assets excluding interest 

income  —  (14.3)  (14.3) 

Administrative expenses paid from fund  —  0.9  0.9 
 $ (10.2) $  (13.4) $ (23.6) 
Other       

Employer contributions   —  (5.4)  (5.4) 
Plan participant contributions  1.4  (1.4)  — 
Benefit payments  (6.3)  6.3  — 

 $ (4.9) $ (0.5) $ (5.4) 
Effect of asset ceiling  —  2.7  2.7 
Defined benefit obligation (asset) as at 
December 31, 2021 $ 129.3 $  (137.4) $ (8.1) 
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Movement in net defined benefit liability for the period from April 8 to December 31, 2020 is set out below: 

 Defined benefit 
obligation 

Fair value of 
plan assets 

Net defined 
benefit liability 

(asset) 
Defined benefit obligation as at April 8, 2020 $ 111.6 $  (106.2) $ 5.4 
       

Recognized in net income       
Current service cost  2.7  —  2.7 
Interest cost (income)  3.1  (3.0)  0.1 

 $ 5.8 $  (3.0) $ 2.8 
Recognized in net equity       

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from:       
Financial assumptions  22.5  —  22.5 
Experience adjustment   0.6  —  0.6 
Return on plan assets excluding interest 

income  —  (16.3)  (16.3) 

Administrative expenses paid from fund  —  0.4  0.4 
 $ 23.1 $  (15.9) $ 7.2 
Other       

Employer contributions   —  (3.8)  (3.8) 
Plan participant contributions  0.7  (0.7)  — 
Benefit payments  (6.0)  6.0  — 

 $ (5.3) $ 1.5 $ (3.8) 
Defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 
2020 $ 135.2 $  (123.6) $ 11.6 

 

Plan assets comprise the following:      

   December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020  
Domestic equity  $ 30.3 $ 24.9 
Foreign equity   25.6  37.8 
Fixed income assets   50.1  38.4 
Other   32.7  16.6 
Cash and short-term investments   1.4  5.9 
Total plan assets  $ 140.1 $ 123.6 

Other post-retirement benefit plans 

The Company provides other post-retirement benefits, including extended health benefits, dental care and life 
insurance covering a portion of its employees in Canada. The cost of these benefits is funded primarily out of 
general revenues. The total estimated contributions expected to be paid to the plans, including the net benefit 
payments to be made in respect to unfunded plans, for the year ending December 31, 2022 are $1.1. 
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Movement in net defined benefit liability for the year ended December 31, 2021 is set out below: 

  
Defined 
benefit 

obligation 

Fair value of 
plan assets 

Net defined 
benefit liability 

(asset) 
         

Defined benefit obligation as at January 1, 2021 $ 32.6 $ — $ 32.6 
           
Recognized in net income       

Current service cost  0.5  —  0.5 
Interest cost (income)  0.8  —  0.8 

 $ 1.3 $ — $ 1.3 
Recognized in net equity          

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from:       
Financial assumptions  (2.8)  —  (2.8) 
Experience adjustment   —  —  — 

 $ (2.8) $ — $ (2.8) 
Other       

Employer contributions   —  (0.7)  (0.7) 
Benefit payments  (0.7)  0.7  — 

 $ (0.7) $ — $ (0.7) 
Defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2021 $ 30.4 $ — $ 30.4 

 

Movement in net defined benefit liability for the period of April 8 to December 31, 2020 is set out below: 

 
Defined 
benefit 

obligation 

Fair value of 
plan assets 

Net defined 
benefit liability 

(asset) 
        

Defined benefit obligation as at April 8, 2020 $ 27.5 $ — $ 27.5 
       
Recognized in net income       

Current service cost  0.3  —  0.3 
Interest cost (income)  0.8  —  0.8 

 $ 1.1 $ — $ 1.1 
Recognized in net equity       

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from:       
Financial assumptions  4.4  —  4.4 
Experience adjustment   0.1  —  0.1 

 $ 4.5 $ — $ 4.5 
Other       

Employer contributions   —  (0.5)  (0.5) 
Benefit payments  (0.5)  0.5  — 

 $ (0.5) $ — $ (0.5) 
Defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2020 $ 32.6 $ — $ 32.6 
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Actuarial assumptions  

The following represents the weighted average of the principle actuarial assumptions used in calculating the 
defined benefit plans and other post-retirement plans at the reporting date. 

  December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

Discount rate 3.1% 2.6% 
Future salary increases 3.5% 3.5% 
Health care trend (Other Post Retirement Benefit Plans) 6.0% 5.9% 
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners:   
        Males 22.0 21.9 
        Females 24.3 24.3 
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners aged 45:   
        Males  23.0 22.9 
        Females 25.3 25.2 

 

As at December 31, 2020, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 15.4 years 
(December 31, 2020 – 15.2). 

Sensitivity analysis 

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other 
assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit plans and other post-retirement plans by the 
amounts shown below. 

 As at December 31, 2021 Increase of 1% Decrease of 1% 

Discount rate $ (21.7) $ 27.9 
Future salary growth  $ 0.5 $ (0.7) 
Health care trends rate $ 4.5 $ (3.5) 
Future mortality $ (0.4) $ 0.4 

18. Share-based compensation  

The Company’s share-based compensation arrangements comprises an employee stock option plan and an 
Employee Share Trust Agreement arrangement (“Trustee Shares”). All of the arrangements are equity-settled. 

Employee Stock Option Plan  

The Company amended its pre-IPO stock option plan on April 7th, 2021 to an equity incentive plan (the “Plan”). 
Under the new Plan, the Company, at its discretion, may grant stock options, deferred share units, restricted 
share units, performance share units and other share-based awards to any director, officer or employee of the 
Company. 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company has granted stock options with an exercise price of 
$14.00 to $30.00. The stock options vest over 4 to 5 years in annual instalments from the grant date. Vesting 
is conditional on continuous employment from the grant date to the vesting date. The stock options have a 
maximum term of 10 years.  

The stock options are measured at fair value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model on the grant date 
and subsequently expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The amount expensed for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 was $8.9 (April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 –$4.9).  
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The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $4.13. The 
fair value of these options granted were estimated on the date of grant using the following assumptions: 

 Year ended December 31, 2021 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Expected volatility 40.00% 
Risk–free interest rate 0.45% - 1.27% 
Expected life of share options 5.9 to 7.1 years 
Weighted average share price $12.48 

 

The expected life of the stock options is based on current expectations and is not necessarily indicative of 
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility is based on the share price volatility observed for 
comparable publicly traded companies over a period similar to the life of the options. 

The table below shows the movement in the number of stock options outstanding and the related weighted 
average exercise price. 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

 Number of 
stock options 

Weighted average  
exercise price 

Number of 
stock options 

Weighted average  
exercise price 

Opening 7,237,325 $ 9.30 — $ — 
Granted  2,576,650  18.66 7,925,954  9.30 
Forfeited  —  — (688,629)  9.30 
Exercised (199,705)  9.31 —  — 
Transferred to Trustee Shares (547,292)  14.00 —  — 
Closing 9,066,978 $ 11.40 7,237,325 $ 9.30 

Stock options exercisable  4,444,721 $ 11.32 — $ — 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the weighted average market share price for stock options exercised 
was $16.90. 

The information regarding the stock options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2021 is 
summarized below: 

  Outstanding options Exercisable options 

Range of exercise 
prices 

Number of 
stock options 

Weighted average 
remaining life 

(years) 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
Number of 

stock options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$6.00 - $9.60 5,630,098 5.9 $ 7.80 2,808,042 $ 7.80 
$14.00 - $18.00 2,869,609 5.9  14.93 1,361,752  14.90 
$22.00 - $30.00 567,271 5.8  29.35 274,927  29.56 
 9,066,978 5.9 $ 11.40 4,444,721 $ 11.32 

 

Concurrent with the Pre-IPO share consolidation described in note 21, the Pre-IPO outstanding stock options 
and weighted average exercise price reflect the six-to-one share consolidation. 

Trustee Shares 

Immediately prior to the IPO, the Company transferred from the Plan a total of 547,292 stock options to Trustee 
Shares for certain employees, which vest on the same basis as the originating stock options. No additional 
Trustee Shares have been granted subsequently. The amount expensed for the year ended December 31, 2021 
was $4.6.   
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The number of Trustee Shares outstanding and vested as at December 31, 2021 is 547,292 and 253,900 
respectively.  

19. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures 

(a) Financial instruments by category:  

The classification of financial instruments and their carrying amounts are as follows as at December 31, 2021:  

Financial assets 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss Amortized cost 
Current       

Cash  $ — $ 83.6 
Trade and other receivables  —  92.6 
Derivative financial instruments  0.2  — 

  $ 0.2 $ 176.2 
Non-current     

    Investment in equity securities $ 7.7 $ — 
Derivative financial instruments  9.3  — 

  $ 17.0 $ — 

 

 Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss Amortized cost 
Current       

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ — $ 71.3 
Lease liabilities  —  7.9 
Derivative financial instruments  0.7  — 
Non-trade payables    0.5 

 $ 0.7 $ 79.7 

Non-current     

Lease liabilities $ — $ 7.8 
Second lien notes  —  144.7 
Derivative financial instruments  0.2  — 
Non-trade payables  —  0.7 

 $ 0.2 $ 153.2 
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The classification of financial instruments and their carrying amounts are as follows as at December 31, 2020: 

 Financial assets 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss Amortized cost 
 Current       

Cash $ — $ 78.6 
Trade and other receivables  —  79.8 
Derivative financial instruments  0.8  — 

  $ 0.8 $ 158.4 
Non-current     

Derivative financial instruments $ 9.1 $ — 
  $ 9.1 $ — 

 

 Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss Amortized cost 
Current       

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ — $ 65.7 
Non-trades payables  —  0.8 
Lease liabilities  —  7.8 
Term loan  —  22.0 
Derivative financial instruments  0.3  — 

 $ 0.3 $ 96.3 
Non-current:     

Non-trades payables $ — $ 1.0 
Lease liabilities  —  12.7 
Term loan  —  390.0 
Second lien notes  —  147.8 
Derivative financial instruments  0.3  — 

 $ 0.3 $ 551.5 

(b) Fair value of financial instruments: 

The table below shows the fair values of financial instruments along with their levels in the fair value hierarchy. 
It does not include fair values of those financial instruments measured at amortized cost for which the carrying 
amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value, which include cash, trade and other receivables, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and non-trade payables. 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Assets                 
Derivative 
financial 
instruments 

$ — $ 1.4 $  8.1 $ 9.5 $ — $ 1.0 $ 8.9 $ 9.9 

Investment in 
equity securities  7.7  —  —  7.7  —  —  —  — 
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 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Liabilities                 
Derivative 
financial 
instruments 

$ — $ 0.9 $ — $  0.9 $ — $ 0.6 $ — $ 0.6 

Term loan  —  —  —  —  —  411.9  —  411.9 
Second-lien 
notes  —  169.6  —  169.6  —  147.8  —  147.8 

 

During the year, no transfers occurred between the different levels. 

Level 2 derivative financial instruments comprises foreign exchange embedded derivatives within revenue and 
purchase contracts. The Company determines fair value of its derivative financial instruments based on 
management estimates and observable market-based inputs. Management estimates include assumptions 
concerning the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows. Observable market-based inputs are sourced 
from third parties and include currency spot and forward rates. 

The fair value of the second lien notes is determined using a present value of future cash flows model. A key 
estimate used in this calculation is the market yield, which is derived from inputs such as corporate bond credit 
spread and risk free rate.  

The embedded derivative redemption feature as part of the second lien notes is classified as a Level 3 security. 
The fair value decrease on this instrument was recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income (loss). Below is the reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy: 

  Embedded derivative 
asset (Level 3) 

As at April 8, 2020 $ — 
Additions  1.9 
Unrealized gain recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) 7.0 
As at December 31, 2020 $ 8.9 
Unrealized loss recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) (0.8) 
As at December 31, 2021 $ 8.1 

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy, together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 
2020 are shown below: 

Security 
Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs Input  Sensitivity analysis 

Embedded 
derivative 
asset  

Interest rate 
option pricing 
model 

Credit spread December 
31, 2021: 
5.57% 
 

December 31, 2021: 0.5% increase 
(decrease) in the credit spread would result 
in a decrease in the fair value by: $2.2 and 
an increase in the fair value by $2.8. 

   December 
31, 2020: 
6.17% 

December 31, 2020: 0.5% increase 
(decrease) in the credit spread would result 
in a decrease in the fair value by 2.6 and an 
increase in the fair value by $3.0. 
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(c) Interest Rate Risk 

The Company was exposed to interest rate risk from fluctuations in interest rates on its floating rate debt prior 
to the repayment of its term loan facility. Following the repayment, the Company had no drawings under its 
revolving credit facility. The Company manages interest rate risk by monitoring the respective mix of fixed and 
floating rate debt and by taking action as necessary to maintain an appropriate balance considering current 
market conditions. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had no outstanding floating rate debt. Based on the 
outstanding borrowings under the term loan facility during the year ended December 31, 2021, a 1.0% increase 
(decrease) in the average interest rate on our borrowings would have decreased (increased) income (loss) 
before taxes by $1.7 for the year ended December 31, 2021 (period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
– $3.6). The impact on future interest expense as a result of future changes in interest rates will depend largely 
on the gross amount of our borrowings at the time. 

(d) Credit risk: 

The Company is exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that counterparties may default on their 
financial obligations to the Company. The Company is primarily exposed to credit risk through its trade and 
other receivables and unbilled receivables. 

The Company’s credit exposure through receivables relates to a diverse group of customers, including 
government customers, in multiple geographic regions purchasing a wide variety of products and services from 
the Company, and is therefore mitigated by a reduced concentration of risk. The due date of these amounts 
can vary by agreement but in general balances over 90 days are considered past due. 

The Company applies the simplified model of recognizing lifetime expected credit losses for all trade, unbilled 
and other receivables. Customers are assessed for credit risk based on the customer organization’s financial 
health, and credit history with the Company. Credit limits or maximum exposures under revenue contracts are 
identified, approved and monitored.  

Set out below is the movement in the allowance for credit losses on trade and other receivables and unbilled 
receivables: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Opening $ (0.3) $ — 
Provision for expected credit losses  (2.1)  (0.7) 
Write-offs  0.2  0.4 
     

Ending $ (2.2) $ (0.3) 
 

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and unbilled receivables recognized on the balance sheet 
as at each reporting date represent their respective maximum credit exposures.  

(e) Liquidity risk: 

The Company’s liquidity risk is the risk it may not be able to meet its contractual obligations associated with 
financial liabilities as they come due. The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash provided by 
operations and access to credit facilities. The Company’s short-term cash requirements are primarily to fund 
working capital, with medium term requirements to service and repay debt, and invest in capital and intangible 
assets, and research and development for growth initiatives. Cash is also used to finance other long-term 
strategic initiatives. For the foreseeable future, the Company believes that these principal sources of liquidity 
are sufficient to maintain the Company’s capacity and to meet planned growth and development activities. 
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The maturities of the contractual cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities as at December 31, 2021 are 
shown in the following table: 

 Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

Maturing in 
less than 1 

year 

Maturing in 
1 to 5 years 

Maturing 
beyond 5 years 

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities:          

Trade and other payables $ 71.3 $ 71.3 $ 71.3 $ — $ — 
            

Financial liabilities, other:           
Non-trades payables  1.2  1.2  0.5  0.6  0.1 
Second lien notes  144.7  150.0  —  —  150.0 

  $ 217.2 $ 222.5 $ 71.8 $ 0.6 $ 150.1 
            

Lease liabilities $ 15.7 $ 15.7  9.5  6.2  — 
Other derivative instruments  0.9  0.9  0.7  0.2  — 
  $ 16.6 $ 16.6 $ 10.2 $ 6.4 $ — 
  $ 233.8 $ 239.1 $ 82.0 $ 7.0 $ 150.1 

 

The maturities of the contractual cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities as at December 31, 2020 are 
shown in the following table: 

 Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

Maturing in 
less than 1 

year 

Maturing in 
1 to 5 years 

Maturing 
beyond 5 years 

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities: 

         

Trade and other payables $ 65.7 $ 65.7 $ 65.7 $ — $ — 
    

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Financial liabilities, other:           
Non-trades payables  1.8  1.8  0.8  0.7  0.3 
Term loan  411.9  424.2  21.8  402.4  — 
Second lien notes  147.8  150.0  —  —  150.0 

 $ 627.2 $ 641.7 $ 88.3 $ 403.1 $ 150.3 
           

Lease liabilities $ 20.5 $ 21.3  8.1  13.2  — 
Other derivative instruments  0.6  0.6  0.3  0.3  — 
 $ 21.1 $ 21.9 $ 8.4 $ 13.5 $ — 

 $ 648.3 $ 663.6 $ 96.7 $ 416.6 $ 150.3 

(f) Foreign exchange risk: 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on sales contracts, purchase contracts as well as cash, 
receivable and payable balances denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the 
Company’s contracting entity. The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated are United 
States dollar (“USD”) and euro, with USD representing the more significant exposure. The Company is also 
exposed to foreign currency risk on the net assets of its foreign operations.  

The Company mitigates its foreign exchange risk through reducing mismatches between currencies in its 
foreign currency revenue contracts and the related purchase contracts. The Company also utilizes foreign 
exchange forward contracts to economically hedge a portion of the exposure arising from expected foreign 
currency denominated cash flows. The term of the foreign exchange forward contracts can range from less than 
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one month to several years. The Company does not enter into foreign exchange forward contracts for trading 
or speculative purposes and does not have any qualifying hedges for accounting purposes. 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company had Canadian dollar foreign exchange forward purchase contracts for 
$4.0. The notional amount on the forward contracts was $3.0 U.S. dollars, with an average exchange rate of 
1.3092 and maturity dates between January 2022 and November 2022. The carrying value of the forward 
contract asset was $0.1. 

Based on the Company’s exposure to financial instruments in USD during the year ended December 31, 2021, 
if USD strengthened (weakened) against the Canadian dollar by 10.0%, income (loss) before taxes would have 
decreased (increased) by $0.2 (period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 – $0.8). 

20. Capital management  

The Company defines its capital as the aggregate of long-term debt and shareholder’s equity. The Company’s 
primary capital management objectives are to provide an appropriate return to shareholders, safeguard working 
capital over the annual operating cycle, provide financial resources to grow operations to meet long-term 
customer demand, and comply with financial covenants under credit facilities.  

The Company’s strategy to managing its capital structure is to utilize its borrowing arrangements to obtain 
committed term and operating credit facilities in support of its working capital and planned capital expenditures. 
When needed, the Company has also access to capital markets to raise equity financing. As at December 31, 
2021, in addition to its outstanding long-term debt and equity, the Company also had $418.1 of available liquidity 
under its revolving credit facility. The Company continually assesses the adequacy of its capital structure and 
capacity and make adjustments within the context of the Company’s strategy, economic conditions, and the 
risk characteristics of the business. 

The Company’s performance against its financial covenants is discussed in detail in note 15. There have been 
no breaches of the financial covenants under the Company’s credit facilities throughout the year-ended 
December 31, 2021.  

21. Share Capital 

(a) Authorized 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value. Each common 
share entitles the holder of record to one vote at shareholder meetings and to participate in dividends if 
declared. 

(b) Pre-IPO share consolidation 

Immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, all of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares were 
consolidated on a six-to-one basis. The number of common shares are presented on a post-share consolidation 
basis.  

(c) Issued and outstanding 

  Number of 
common shares Amount 

As at April 8, 2020 80,620,000 $ 479.7 
Issuance of common shares 115,983  0.7 
As at December 31, 2020 80,735,983 $ 480.4 
Issuance to private investor and employees (i) 5,098,420  30.6 
IPO, issuance of common shares net of issuance costs and tax (ii) 28,571,500  382.4 
Exercise of over-allotment option (iii) 4,285,725  57.3 
As at December 31, 2021 118,691,628 $ 950.7 
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All issued common shares are fully paid. 

(i) Issuance to private investor and employees 

In the first quarter ended March 31, 2021, the Company issued 5,000,000 common shares for a subscription 
price of $30.0 to a private investor and 98,420 common shares with a value of $0.6 to employees. 

(ii) Initial Public Offering (IPO) 

On April 7, 2021, the Company completed its IPO and issued 28,571,500 common shares at $14 per share 
for total gross proceeds of $400.0. Share issuance costs amounted to $24.0 resulting in net cash proceeds 
of $376.0. The Company also recognized an income tax recovery of $6.4 on the share issuance costs 
resulting in net share capital increase of $382.4.  

(iii) Exercise of over-allotment option 

Following the close of the offering, on April 14, 2021 the over-allotment option granted to the underwriters 
to purchase up to an additional 4,285,725 common shares at a price of $14.00 per common share was 
exercised in full, generating additional gross proceeds to the Company of $60.0. Share issuance costs 
amounted to $3.7 resulting in net cash proceeds of $56.3. The Company also recognized an income tax 
recovery of $1.0 on the share issuance costs resulting in net share capital increase of $57.3. 

22. Income taxes  

(a) Income tax expense (recovery) 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Current tax expense     
Current period $ 14.9 $ 12.0 
Change in estimate for prior periods  1.0  — 
 $ 15.9 $ 12.0 
Deferred tax expense:     
Origination and reversal of temporary 
differences  (7.5)  (12.5) 

Income tax expense (recovery) $ 8.4 $ (0.5) 

(b) Income taxes recognized in OCI  

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Opening $ 3.1 $ — 
Income tax expense (recovery) on 
remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans   (6.5)  3.1 

Closing $ (3.4) $ 3.1 
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(c) Income tax rate reconciliation 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates to actual income tax expense is as follows: 

 Year ended April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Statutory Federal and Provincial tax rate in Canada 26.5% 27% 
     
Income tax expense (recovery) at statutory tax rates $ 3.0 $ (4.9) 
Earnings subject to different rates  —  0.1 
Change in statutory rates  (0.2)    0.1 
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets  0.2  — 
Change in uncertain tax positions  0.4    (0.3) 
Share-based compensation  3.6    1.4 
Non-deductible impairment  —    3.3 
Change in estimate for prior periods  1.0  — 
Other, including permanent differences  0.4    (0.2) 
 $ 8.4 $ (0.5) 

(d) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2021 are attributable to the following: 

 Assets Liabilities Net 
Unbilled receivables and contract liabilities $ — $ 5.0 $ (5.0) 
Property, plant and equipment  —  16.7  (16.7) 
Intangible assets and goodwill  —  132.6  (132.6) 
Investment tax credits  6.6  18.4  (11.8) 
Trade and other payables  1.9  —  1.9 
Employee benefits  5.9  —  5.9 
Tax loss carry forwards  14.0  —  14.0 
Other items  7.8  2.6  5.2 
Tax assets (liabilities)   $ 36.2 $ 175.3 $ (139.1) 
Set off of tax   (16.9)  (16.9)  — 
Net tax assets (liabilities) $ 19.3 $ $158.4 $  (139.1) 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2020 are attributable to the following: 

 Assets Liabilities Net 
Unbilled receivables and contract liabilities $ — $ 3.0 $ (3.0) 
Property, plant and equipment  —  16.4  (16.4) 
Intangible assets and goodwill  —  150.8  (150.8) 
Investment tax credits  9.4  14.8  (5.4) 
Trade and other payables  5.0  —  5.0 
Employee benefits  11.9  —  11.9 
Tax loss carry forwards  6.9  —  6.9 
Other items  4.8  0.5  4.3 
Tax assets (liabilities)   $ 38.0 $ 185.5 $ (147.5) 
Set off of tax   (26.8)  (26.8)  — 
Net tax assets (liabilities) $ 11.2 $ 158.7 $  (147.5) 

The Company has recognized deferred tax assets of $15.8 in respect of a subsidiary relating to tax loss carry 
forwards and deductible transaction fees. These deferred tax assets have been recognized based on an 
estimate of future taxable profits derived from the Company’s financial projections. 
 

(e) Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of tax losses of $9.2 as at December 31, 2021 
(December 31, 2020 – $7.7). These tax losses have no expiry date. 

(f) Temporary differences 

Movement in temporary differences for the year ended December 31, 2021 is set out below: 

  

As at  
January 1, 

2021 

Recognized 
in net income 

in year  

Recognized 
in equity in 

year 

As at 
December 

31, 2021 
Unbilled receivables and contract 
liabilities $ (3.0) $ (2.0) $ — $ (5.0) 

Property, plant and equipment  (16.4)  (0.3)  —  (16.7) 
Intangible assets and goodwill  (150.8)  18.2  —  (132.6) 
Investment tax credits  (5.4)  (6.4)  —  (11.8) 
Trade and other payables  5.0  (3.1)  —  1.9 
Employee benefits  11.9  0.5  (6.5)  5.9 
Tax loss carry forwards  6.9  7.1  —  14.0 
Other items  4.3  (6.5)  7.4  5.2 
 $ (147.5) $ 7.5 $ 0.9 $ (139.1) 



MDA LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 and period April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 
(Amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except share-based compensation awards and per share amounts) 
 

 

Page 41 of 43 
 

Movement in temporary differences for the period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 is set out below: 

  
April 8, 

2020 

Recognized 
in net income 

in year  

Recognized 
in equity in 

year 

Recognized 
in goodwill 

in year 
December 

31, 2020 
Unbilled receivables and 
contract liabilities $ (4.3) $ 1.3 $ — $ — $ (3.0) 

Property, plant and equipment  (9.2)  (6.7)  —  (0.5)  (16.4) 
Intangible assets and goodwill  (168.6)  17.8  —  —  (150.8) 
Investment tax credits  (6.2)  0.8  —  —  (5.4) 
Trade and other payables  4.1  0.9  —  —  5.0 
Employee benefits  8.7  0.1  3.1  —  11.9 
Tax loss carry forwards  3.4  3.5  —  —  6.9 
Other items  9.5  (5.2)  —  —  4.3 
 $ (162.6) $ 12.5 $ 3.1 $ (0.5) $ (147.5) 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company had no taxable temporary differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries. 

23. Earnings (loss) per share  

The following table reflects the net income (loss) and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings (loss) 
per share calculations: 

 Year ended  April 8, 2020 to 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

Net income (loss) $ 2.9 $ (17.3) 

   

Weighted average shares outstanding – basic 109,301,909 80,660,028 

Adjustments for   

Employee stock options 6,593,329 1,077,054 

Trustee shares 406,346 — 

Weighted average shares outstanding – diluted 116,301,584 81,737,082 

     

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.03 $ (0.21) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share   0.02  (0.21) 

24. Government assistance   

(a) Investment tax credits  

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized investment tax credits of $25.6 million 
(April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 – $13.3 million) as a reduction in cost of materials, labour and 
subcontractors on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss), and $7.3 million as a reduction 
in the carrying amount of related assets on the consolidated statement of financial position. The Company has 
investment tax credits of approximately $69.5 million available to offset future Canadian Federal and Provincial 
income taxes payable which expire between 2029 and 2041. Investment tax credits are only recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements when the recognition criteria have been met as described in note 3(p). 
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Investment tax credits that are expected to be realized within 12 months are presented within current other 
assets; investment tax credits that are expected to be realized beyond 12 months are presented within non-
current other assets (see note 10). This classification as at December 31, 2020 was adjusted resulting in current 
investment tax credits receivable decreasing from $52.1 to $3.8, and a corresponding adjustment to increase 
long-term investment taxes receivable from $nil to $48.5. The adjustment had no impact on total comprehensive 
income (loss) or on the statement of cash flows. 

(b) CEWS 

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government of Canada offered employers a wage subsidy to assist 
in retaining employees throughout the pandemic. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company 
recognized $24.8 (April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 – $41.6) of government grant income related to CEWS 
from the Canadian government, of which $0.7 is receivable as at December 31, 2021. 

(c) Technology Demonstration Program: 

On May 5, 2016, the Company was awarded a contribution agreement valued at $54.0 by Innovation, Science 
and Economic Development under the Technology Demonstration Program (“TDP”). The TDP program 
contributes funding towards large-scale research and development projects that typically require the integration 
of several different technologies and the coordination of activities of many partners. The Company will 
coordinate with a team of Canadian partners, both in industry and academia, to develop innovative technology 
for space communications and space surveillance. Under the agreement, the Company and its partners can 
claim 50% of eligible costs up to $108.0 for the period August 12, 2014 through to March 31, 2022. Of this total, 
the Company is eligible to receive a maximum contribution of $31.5 based on 50% of eligible costs up to $63.0. 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a recovery against direct costs, selling, 
general and administration of $0.2 (April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 – $3.1) for its portion of 50% of eligible 
costs incurred. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company received proceeds of $0.4 (April 8, 2020 
to December 31, 2020 – $5.2) in respect of its claim for 50% of eligible expenditures. 

(d) Next Generation Manufacturing Canada (“NGen”): 

In December 2020, the Company entered into a contribution agreement for a maximum of $5.0. NGen is 
dedicated to building up next generation manufacturing capabilities and promoting collaboration in advanced 
manufacturing and innovation by strengthening linkages across industry, academia and research institutes in 
Canada. The Company will coordinate with a team of Canadian partners to develop advanced manufacturing 
for highly adaptive manufacturing environments. Under the agreement, the Company and its partners can claim 
44.4% of eligible costs up to $11.3 for the period January 1, 2021 through to March 21, 2023. Of this total, the 
Company is eligible to receive a maximum contribution of $3.4 based on 44.4% of eligible costs up to $7.7 and 
so far, has recorded a recovery against the related asset of $1.7. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the 
Company received proceeds of $1.4 (April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020 – $0.3) in respect of its claim for 
44.4% of eligible expenditures. 

(e) Canadian Artificial Intelligence Supercluster (“Scale AI”) 

In November 2021, the Company entered into a contribution agreement for a maximum of $2.8. Scale AI is a 
project led by Canada’s Minister of Innovation, Science and Economic Development, and is dedicated towards 
investing in industry-led artificial intelligence powered supply chain products. Under the agreement, MDA can 
claim up to 48.8% of eligible costs up to $5.7 for the period November 2021 through to March 2023, but maintain 
certain budgeted key performance indicators including revenue growth, cost reduction, jobs created and number 
of people trained. The Company has not yet recognized any recovery for the year ended December 31, 2021.  

25. Related party transactions  

For the year ended December 31, 2021 and period from April 8, 2020 to December 31, 2020, the Company was 
controlled by Northern Private Capital Ltd. The Company’s related parties include its subsidiaries, common 
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shareholders, and key management personnel. The Company’s related party transactions comprises 
compensation paid to its key management personnel, as summarized below: 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Short-term and post-employment benefits $ 9.2 $ 7.7 
Termination benefits  —  9.0 
Share-based compensation expense  8.6  4.9 
Total key management personnel compensation $ 17.8 $ 21.6 

26. Contingencies and commitments 

(a) As at December 31, 2021, the Company is committed under legally enforceable agreements for purchases 
relating to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of $13.7 in 2022 and $0.2 in 2025.  

(b) The Company enters into agreements in the ordinary course of business with resellers and others. Most of 
these agreements require the Company to indemnify the other party against third-party claims alleging that 
one of its products infringes or misappropriates a patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret or other intellectual 
property right. Certain of these agreements require the Company to indemnify the other party against claims 
relating to property damage, personal injury or acts or omissions by the Company, its employees, agents or 
representatives.  

(c) From time to time, the Company has made guarantees regarding the performance of its systems to its 
customers. Some of these agreements do not limit the maximum potential future payments the Company could 
be obligated to make. The Company evaluates and estimates potential losses from such indemnification based 
on the likelihood that the future event will occur. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as 
a result of such obligations and has not accrued any liabilities related to such indemnification and guarantees 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

(d) The Company has entered into industrial cooperation agreements, sometimes referred to as offset 
agreements, as a condition to entering into contracts for its products and services from certain customers in 
foreign countries. These agreements are designed to return economic value to the foreign country and may 
be satisfied through activities that do not require a direct cash payment, including transferring technology, 
providing manufacturing, training and other consulting support to in-country projects. These agreements may 
provide for penalties in the event the Company fails to perform in accordance with offset requirements. The 
Company has historically not been required to pay any such penalties.  

(e) The Company is a party to various other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of 
business as either a plaintiff or defendant. The Company analyzes all legal proceedings and the allegations 
therein. The outcome of any of these other proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, is not expected 
to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.  

27. Changes to classification 

Certain comparative amounts for the prior period have been reclassified to conform to current period 
presentation on the consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income (loss). Such reclassifications had no effect on shareholders’ equity. 
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